IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA 


NO. 16-1007 


DAVID BALLARD, WARDEN, 
MT. OLIVE CORRECTIONAL COMPLEX, 

Respondent Below, Petitioner, 

vs. 

PIDLLIP A. WARD, 

Petitioner Below, Respondent. 

PETITIONER'S BRIEF 

COMES NOW, Petitioner,! David Ballard, Warden, Mt. Olive Correctional Complex, by 

counsel, David A. Stackpole, Assistant Attorney General and requests that this Court reverse the 

decision of the Circuit Court, order that Respondent's conviction for first degree murder be 

reinstated, and order that Respondent's life sentence, without mercy, be reinstated. This case

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 


1. The Circuit Court erred in not applying the principle of res judicata when it addressed 

whether or not Fred Zain testified falsely at trial. The issue of Zain's testimony was fully, fairly, 

and completely litigated previously. 

2. 	 The Circuit Court made clearly erroneous factual findings as to three (3) separate facts: 

[a] when the Circuit Court determined that the DNA evidence exonerated Respondent because 

the DNA testing actually corroborates the serological testing as neither the victim nor 

Respondent were eliminated as a source of DNA; [b] when the Circuit Court improperly 

substituted its own opinion that Zain did the testing despite Sergeant Smith's unequivocal 

testimony that he tested the bill; and [c] when the Circuit Court treated the existence of a third 

person's DNA on the money as exculpatory. 

3. The Circuit Court erred in holding that the DNA evidence was newly discovered 

evidence, entitling Respondent to a new trial for three (3) reasons: [a] the evidence was not new; 

[b] the Circuit Court failed to conduct the required analysis; and [c] even absent the serology 

evidence, the jury had more than sufficient evidence to convict Respondent. 

II. 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

This case began in 1987 and has a long history, including trial, conviction, sentence, 

appeal, numerous habeas petitions in Circuit Court, and even a federal habeas petition. 

A. 	 The Time Leading Up To The Murder Of Carol Carter And The Robbery Of 
Wendy's Restaurant. 

Respondent worked at Wendy's restaurant on May 3, 1987. (ld. at 72-3.) He regularly 

worked between thirty (30) and forty (40) hours a week and made three dollars and thirty-five 
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cents ($3.35) an hour. (App. II at 100.) He usually made around one hundred dollars ($100.00) 

to one hundred thirty dollars ($130.00) a week. (Id.) 

On the night of May 3, 1987, Wendy's restaurant had four hundred fifty dollars ($450.00) 

in the safe as start-up money for the next day. (ld. at 69.) In addition to the start-up money, the 

day's deposit was in the safe, which amounted to eight hundred ninety-eight dollars and nine 

cents ($898.09). (ld.) All together, there was a total of one thousand three hundred forty-eight 

dollars and nine cents ($1,348.09) in the safe on the evening of May 3, 1987. (Id.) The money 

included change that was obtained, in Wells Fargo wrappers. (ld. at 70-1,96.) 

Respondent's shift was from 7:07 p.m. to 11:37 that night. (ld. at 72-3.) Carol Carter 

(hereinafter "Ms. Carter") was the closing manager that evening. (Id. at 73.) She started at 5:00 

p.m. and clocked out at the same time as Respondent. (Id.) However, as manager, it was not 

unusual for her to stay to do paperwork after she went off the clock. (!d.) In addition to 

Respondent and Ms. Carter, Judy Lester (hereinafter "Ms. Lester") and Kim McDaniels 

(hereinafter "Ms. McDaniels") worked that evening. (Id. at 141-42.) 

Ms. Lester worked from 5:00 p.m. to 11:30 p.m. (ld. at 142.) Before she left the 

restaurant, Ms. Lester saw Ms. Carter sitting down at a table to start her paperwork. (ld. at 147.) 

After she left the restaurant, Ms. Lester noticed Craig Sigler (hereinafter "Mr. Sigler"), another 

Wendy's employee, who had worked earlier that day, in the parking lot. (ld. at 143, 157-59.) 

When Ms. Lester left, Mr. Sigler was still in the parking lot waiting for Respondent. (Id.) 

After Respondent finished work, Mr. Sigler and Respondent decided to go to Tradewell 

Supermarkets to meet a girl. (Id. at 160.) Respondent had already changed out of his Wendy's 

shirt and into at-shirt. (ld.) At 11 :40 p.m., Misty Nelson (hereinafter "Ms. Nelson"), was 

finishing her shift at Tradewell Supermarkets when Mr. Sigler and another man came into the 
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store. (Id. at 148-49.) When Ms. Nelson left the store, Mr. Sigler was sitting in his car with the 

other man and asked her if she wanted to "go out." (Id. at 151-52.) She declined and Mr. Sigler 

told her, "I guess I'll take Phie back to get his car." (ld. at 152.) Mr. Sigler drove off in the 

direction of Wendy's restaurant around 11:55 p.m. (ld. at 153-54.) Mr. Sigler took Respondent 

back to Wendy's restaurant. (ld. at 162.) 

Respondent and Mr. Sigler "knocked on the window [at Wendy's restaurant] and Ms. 

Carter come (sic) to the side door and let us in." (ld. at 162.) They used the phone to make 

several calls until 12:15 a.m. (ld. at 163.) Then, they spoke to Ms. Carter for a "little bit." (ld. 

at 165-66.) Ms. Carter had stayed to finish a report. (Id. at 168.) They left the building and Mr. 

Sigler went home. (ld. at 166-67.) Respondent was still in the parking lot "up against his car, 

but he was not in the car" at the time Mr. Sigler left. (ld. at 168.) 

B. The Discovery And Investigation Of The Murder And Robbery. 

Danny O'Brien (hereinafter "Mr. O'Brien") was the restaurant manager at Wendy's 

restaurant. (App. II at 52.) On May 4, 1987, Mr. O'Brien arrived at work at 6:00 a.m. and saw 

Ms. Carter's car in the parking lot. (ld. at 53.) He assumed that she had car trouble until he 

noticed keys (including the front door key to the restaurant) and a case lying on the ground near 

the door. (ld.) Mr. O'Brien checked the front door and found that it was unlocked. (ld.) He 

looked in the drive-thru window and saw blood on the floor. (Id.) Mr. O'Brien called the police 

and waited until the deputy arrived. (ld.) He entered the restaurant with the deputy and saw 

clothes that were "wadded up with blood soaked on the prep table" and "a large amount of blood 

on the floor, around the safe, in the safe, [and] on the safe." (ld. at 54.) "The safe had been 

opened and all the money had been taken out." (ld.) 

Respondent's name is Phillip Ward. 
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Wendy's employees were paid every two (2) weeks and given their paychecks on 

Saturdays, but Respondent did not pick his up and his check was still at Wendy's restaurant on 

Monday, May 4, 1987. (Id. at 75-6.) 

Deputy James Lowe (hereinafter "Deputy Lowe") was called out to help with the 

investigation. (Id. at 113.) His initial task was to search for Ms. Carter. (Id. at 114.) He began 

searching the riverbank, behind Wendy's restaurant. (Id.) He "saw the bare buttocks of a white 

female." (Id.) Evidence was collected from the scene, including blood samples, neck hair 

samples, scalp hair samples, hand hair samples, loose hair samples, fmgernail clippings, 

fingernail scrapings, and cinder block chippings. (App. III at 197-99.) 

There were no identifiable bloody prints found. (Id. at 215.) There was only one (1) 

footprint from a work boot, in the mud, that was possibly identifiable, and it did not belong to 

any police officer. (Id. at 216-17.) Inside the restaurant, there were several footprints, including 

bare footprints, a shoe print on a stool, and some tennis shoe prints on the floor in the cooking 

area. (Id. at 219-20.) Officer Scheidler was later able to identify the bare footprints as belonging 

to Ms. Carter. (Id. at 220.) The tennis shoe prints were not muddy and were not bloody. (Id. at 

221.) 

C. Respondent's Actions Following The Murder And Robbery. 

Respondent and his girlfriend, Andrea Hefner (hereinafter "Ms. Hefner"), were living 

together at Respondent's mother's home and usually slept in the same bed. (App. III at 268-69, 

286-87.) However, Respondent did not sleep with Ms. Hefner that night. (Id. at 286-87.) 

At 6:40 a.m., on May 4, 1987, Karen Spoor (hereinafter "Ms. Spoor"), an employee of 

the Department of Corrections, working with the Work Release Center, spotted Respondent at 

the Rich Oil station, pumping gasoline into his car. (App. IV at 428-32.) She had driven past the 
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Wendy's restaurant and saw police cars and yellow crime scene tape on her way to work. (/d. at 

433.) When she saw Respondent, whom she knew worked at Wendy's restaurant, and realized 

that he was out at a time beyond his curfew, she went back and talked to him. (/d. at 429-33.) 

She asked what he was doing out and he told her that his employer had called him back to work. 

(/d. at 433.) She instructed him to immediately get back in touch with her as soon as he went to 

work. (/d. at 433-34.) 

At noon on May 4, 1987, Respondent and Ms. Hefner watched the news about the murder 

and Respondent told Ms. Hefner that the woman killed was his manager. (App. III at 293-94.) 

Afterward, Ms. Hefner picked up her mail, which included a check for one hundred fifty dollars 

($150.00) from her grandmother and a money order in the amount of seventy-five dollars 

($75.00) from her mother. (Id. at 295-96.) Ms. Hefner went to the bank and cashed the check 

and the money order. (Id. at 297.) Then she went to the electric company and paid off her bill 

from her old apartment, her deposit on her new place, and the bill for the new place, totaling two 

hundred dollars and sixty-seven cents ($200.67). (ld. at 299-307.) Ms. Hefner claimed to have 

used the two-hundred twenty-five dollars ($225.00) received in the mail because neither she nor 

Respondent had any money of their own at the time. (/d.) However, Deputy Jim Scheidler 

(hereinafter "Deputy Scheidler") met with the employees at the electric company and viewed the 

money that was to be deposited from that day's collections and obtained a twenty dollar ($20.00) 

bill that "was quite obvious that it was bloodstained on the face of the bill." (App. IV at 500-02.) 

After paying the electric bills, Ms. Hefner and Respondent went to Ponderosa and ate a 

meal. (App. III at 309.) Then, they went to the Pied Piper, where Respondent had a new car 

stereo installed. (ld. at 309-12.) The cost of the car stereo was two hundred nineteen dollars and 

twenty-nine cents ($219.29) and it was paid for, in cash, on May 4, 1987. (Id. at 334, 406-07, 
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417 -20.) The cost of installation of the stereo was also paid for in cash on May 4, 1987, in the 

amount of fifty-two dollars and fifty cents ($52.50). (Id.) Respondent paid the bills with "small 

bills" and he had "quite a bit [of money] left over." (ld. at 420.) Next, they went to Super 

America and bought gasoline for the car. (Id. at 312.) 

D. Respondent's Flight And Capture. 

At 5:05 p.m., Respondent's mother contacted the Work Release Center and then 

Respondent called the Center. (App. IV at 439.) Respondent told Ms. Spoor that he was 

questioned at Wendy's restaurant regarding a robbery that had occurred. (ld.) Ms. Spoor 

instructed Respondent not to leave his mother's house until Linda Hawkins (hereinafter "Ms. 

Hawkins") arrived. (ld.) 

Ms. Hawkins was the administrator of the Huntington Work Release Center. (ld. at 450.) 

Ms. Hawkins went to Respondent's mother's house. (ld. at 452.) She asked him questions about 

his work at Wendy's restaurant and he informed her that he had called in to the Work Release 

Center at 12:15 a.m. from the restaurant, even though he was supposed to call from his residence 

after he arrived home from work. (Id. at 454.) Then Respondent excused himself to go to the 

bathroom. (Id. at 456.) After a few minutes, Respondent's mother went to check on him and 

came back and exclaimed, "He's run." (Id.) There was no upstairs exit from the house and 

Respondent had to jump from the second story window to get out. (App. III at 319.) 

Ms. Hawkins and another correctional officer went outside and began searching for 

Respondent. (App. IV at 456.) They searched for fifteen to twenty minutes before they found 

him. (Id. at 461.) Ms. Hawkins saw Respondent and ordered him to stop and an officer 

apprehended him. (ld. at 458.) Respondent's mother took his keys at Respondent's request. (Id. 
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at 459-60.) Respondent's mother went to his car, opened the car door, and took money out of the 

vehicle. (Id. at 460-61.) The stack of money was about a half inch to an inch thick. (Id. at 461.) 

Deputy Robert Copley (hereinafter "Deputy Copley") was there when Ms. Hawkins 

apprehended Respondent. (Id. at 472-73.) Deputy Copley did a pat down, which revealed 

Respondent's wallet. (Id. at 473.) Inside of the wallet was a blood stained five dollar ($5.00) 

bill. (Id. at 473-74.) He conducted a search of Respondent's mother's house and Respondent's 

apartment. (Id. at 475-76.) He was unable to find the maroon jacket that Respondent had been 

wearing the night before or Respondent's name tag from Wendy's restaurant. (Id.) 

Additionally, Deputy Copley was only able to find one (1) wrinkled uniform and one (1) 

uniform, which was in the package, unopened. (Id.) 

A knapsack was found in a garbage can, containing "[a] box wrapped up of one-dollar 

bills, a First Response Medical type of book, a green notebook" and "a statuette" with money 

inside. (App. III at 200-01.) The money included both loose change and rolls of change. (Id. at 

202.) There was approximately sixty dollars ($60.00) in change. (App. I at 159.) Because the 

bag was wet, some of the loose change had been in wrappers, but the wrappers had broken lose 

or were deteriorating. (App. III at 202.) The statue had a name written on it: Andrea Hefner. 

(Id. at 203.) The First Response Medical book had papers inside, one (1) of which stated that 

"[t]his is to certify that Phillip Ward has been tested by a qualified personnel person." (Id. at 

204-05.) There was another letter from Marshall University to Respondent in the book and the 

green notebook had miscellaneous papers with Respondent's name on them. (Id. at 205-06.) 

The money included two (2) one hundred dollar ($100.00) bills and twenty-seven (27) twenty 

($20.00) dollar bills. (Id. at 208.) Also in the knapsack, there was a paper box containing thirty

five (35) one dollar ($1.00) bills. (App. IV at 504.) One (1) of the thirty-five (35) one dollar 
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($1.00) bills was bloodstained. (Id. at 505.) When added up, the change, one dollar ($1.00) 

bills, twenty dollar ($20.00) bills, and one hundred dollar ($100.00) bills, inside the knapsack, 

there was approximately eight hundred thirty-five dollars ($835.00). 

E. Respondent's Indictment And Trial. 

Respondent was indicted on two (2) counts: murder and aggravated robbery. (App. I at 

7.) At trial, Officer Danny Ross (hereinafter "Officer Ross") testified that, as far as he knew, all 

the blood that was found, either inside or outside of the restaurant was the victim's blood, the 

hair was the victim's hair, and there was no material obtained from the fmgemail scrapings that 

did not belong to her. (App. III at 229-30.) He also testified that there were no identifiable 

fingerprints inside Wendy's restaurant. (ld. at 234.) Officer Samuel Scheidler (hereinafter 

"Officer Scheidler") testified that they did not find any fingerprints belonging to Respondent. 

(Id. at 247-48.) Officer Schiedler also conducted tests and was able to verify that the barefoot 

footprint found inside the restaurant belong to Ms. Carter. (Id. at 248-50.) He also testified that 

an examination of Respondent's vehicle failed to tum up any sign of blood. (ld. at 258.) Officer 

Scheidler testified that he examined quite a bit of money for fingerprints in the case and did not 

find any identifiable fingerprints. (Id. at 265.) 

Ms. Hefner testified at trial, that the statue that was found in the knapsack, with money 

inside, was her statue and had been kept in her apartment. (Id. at 329.) Ms. Hefner testified that 

she did not have any money inside the statue. (ld. at 333.) She also testified that she recognized 

Respondent's class books, textbooks, and paperwork that were found in the knapsack. (Id.) Ms. 

Hefner testified that the knapsack had Respondent's name on it. (ld. at 331-32.) 

Dr. Irvin M. Sopher (hereinafter "Dr. Sopher") was the Chief Medical Examiner. (App. 

IV at 564.) He conducted the autopsy of Ms. Carter. (Id. at 567-68.) Dr. Sopher testified that 
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the body only had one (1) article of clothing, which was a dark blue blazer with misaligned 

snaps. (Id. at 568.) Ms. Carter was not wearing any shirt, pants, or undergarments. (Id.) 

Ms. Carter had six (6) very deep, open wounds to her scalp and a very large bruise on her 

scalp. (Id. at 569.) She had "several scrapes about the forehead, about the chin, about the left 

cheek, known as abrasions, and suggestive of a terminal fall in the course of her final collapse 

onto a roughened surface such as gravel or pebbles or roughened concrete surface." (Jd.) She 

had "extensive brain injury from what we call blunt force, trauma" and "extensive skull 

fracture." (Id. at 571.) Dr. Sopher testified that "blood in the back of the throat had been inhaled 

into the lungs showing that she had survived a short period of time at least before her fatal 

eventful fatal demise." (Jd.) Ms. Carter also had defense type injuries on her arms and a fracture 

of the second finger of the left hand. (Id. at 570.) There was no evidence of any sexual assault. 

(Id.) Dr. Sopher testified that the time of death would have been between midnight and 2:00 

a.m. (Id. at 579, 586.) 

F. Fred Zain's Trial Testimony. 

Fred Salem Zain (hereinafter "Mr. Zain") testified at trial. (Id. at 539-63.) Mr. Zain 

testified that Ms. Carter's blood sample showed that she was Type B. (Id. at 544.) He testified 

that only nine (9) people in every ten thousand (10,000) people have Type B blood. (Jd. at 546.) 

He testified that scrapings from the cinder block were "consistent with Ms. Carter's blood." (Id. 

at 548.) Mr. Zain testified that the blood scrapings from the safe lock "were the same 

characteristics of Ms. Carter." (Id. at 549.) 

Mr. Zain testified that the twenty dollar ($20.00) bill that was obtained from the electric 

company "contained blood characteristics which were the same as Ms. Carter's blood 

characteristics." (Id. at 550.) He testified that the one dollar ($1.00) bill that was obtained from 
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the paper box in the knapsack contained "strains of human blood Type B, which is consistent 

with Ms. Carter's known ABO blood type." (Jd. at 551.) Mr. Zain testified that the five dollar 

($5.00) bill that was obtained from Respondent's wallet had "the same blood characteristics of 

Ms. Carter." (Id. at 552.) 

In cross-examination, Respondent's counsel was able to elicit testimony from Mr. Zain 

that he cannot tell "whose (sic) blood it is for sure." (Jd. at 561.) Mr. Zain conceded that the 

blood on the bills could have been on those bills for as many as two (2) months, could have been 

put on the bills anywhere in the world, and could have come from anyone (1) of three point six 

(3.6) million out of the four (4) billion people in the world at the time. (Id. at 558-60.) 

G. The Jury's Verdict, Respondent's Sentence, and The Direct Appeal. 

The jury returned a unanimous verdict that Respondent was guilty of murder, without a 

recommendation of mercy, and aggravated robbery. CAppo I at 8-9; App. V. at 750-51.) 

Respondent was sentenced to life without mercy on the murder conviction. CAppo I at 10-1.) 

Respondent was never sentenced on the aggravated robbery conviction because the "aggravated 

robbery count served as the underlying felony in the state's felony-murder prosecution." State V. 

Ward, 188 W. Va. 380, 381 fn.l, 424 S.E.2d 725, 726 fn.l (1991). Respondent was resentenced 

for purposes of appeal. (App. I at 12.) 

On May 15, 1991, this Court issued a decision in Respondent's direct appeal. Ward,188 

W. Va. at 380, 424 S.E.2d at 725. Respondent's direct appeal raised three (3) issues: [1] error to 

refuse to allow his rebuttal witness to testify; [2] failure to disclose exculpatory evidence; and [3] 

ineffective assistance as to jury voir dire. Ward, 188 W. Va. at 381-82,424 S.E.2d at 726-27. 

This Court affirmed the conviction and sentence. [d. 
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H. 	 Respondent's 92-C-41 Habeas Petition. 

On January 10, 1992, Respondent filed a habeas petition alleging the same three (3) 

errors alleged in the direct appeal. (App. I at 13-62.) Respondent moved to withdraw his action, 

without prejudice, and the Circuit Court granted the motion. (Jd. at 63-4.) However, on May 27, 

1993, Respondent filed an amended petition on six (6) grounds: [1] the indictment was defective; 

[2] error to admit evidence of his work release status; [3] prosecutorial misconduct for making 

improper statements in closing; [4] insufficient evidence; [5] unconstitutional search and seizure; 

and [6] ineffective assistance of counsel for: [a] failing to properly investigate, [b] failing to 

prepare a proper defense, [c] failure to interview state's witnesses prior to trial, [d] mention of 

work release status, and [e] failure to identify all witnesses. (Id. at 13, 65-70.) Respondent filed

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