IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA 


NO. 16-1007 


DAVID BALLARD, WARDEN, 

MT. OLIVE CORRECTIONAL COMPLEX, 


Respondent Below, Petitioner, 

vs. 

PHILLIP AWARD, 

Petitioner Below, Respondent. 

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF 

Comes now the Respondent, Phillip A. Ward, by and through counsel, Connor D. 

Robertson, and requests this Honorable Court to affirm the decision of the Cabell County Circuit 

Court granting Respondent a New Trial by way of Final Order Granting Petition for Habeas 

Corpus. In support thereof, Respondent states as follows:

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

I. RESPONDENT'S CLAIMS ARE NOT BARRED BY RES JUDICATA. 

Petitioner's assertion Respondent's claim is barred by the doctrine ofRes Judicata is wrong 

for two reasons: 1) In re Renewed Investigation ofS/ate Police, 219 W.Va. 408 (2006) expressly 

afforded Respondent the right to bring his renewed request for reliefby holding that "[a] prisoner 

who was convicted between 1979 and 1999 and against whom a West Virginia State Police Crime 

Laboratory serologist, other than Fred Zain, offered evidence may bring a petition for a writ of 

habeas corpus based on the serology evidence despite the fact that the prisoner brought a prior 
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habeas corpus challenge to the same serology evidence, and the challenge wasfinally adjudicated. 

(Emphasis added), and 2) Petitioner waived its right to assert Res Judicata in this appeal as it is an 

affirmative defense which must be raised or waived in the Court below. 

II. 	 THE CIRCUIT COURT'S FACTUAL FINDINGS ARE SUPPORTED BY THE 
RECORD AND NOT CLEARLY ERRONEOUS. 

The Circuit Court did not error in finding the DNA evidence exonerated the Respondent, 

because a careful review of the record reveals the Circuit Court never made such a finding. The 

Petitioner throughout his brief misstates the findings made by the Circuit Court and substitutes an 

exoneration standard for one of falsity. The Circuit Court's finding that the serology evidence 

presented at trial regarding the twenty-dollar bill ($20.00) was false is well supported by the DNA 

evidence eliminating Ms. Carter as a possibility to the stain and finding a third-party contributor. 

Likewise, the Circuit Court properly found the one-dollar bill was excluded as a matter of law 

because Sergeant Smith nor Trooper Myer's performed the serology testing. Finally, the Circuit 

Court made no opinion regarding the five-dollar bill ($5.00). 

The Circuit Circuit did not make findings that Fred Zain tested the money as Petitioner 

suggests. The Circuit Court did discuss its hesitancy in believing that Sergeant Smith tested the 

twenty-dollar bill ($20.00) based on the contradicting nature of the trial testimony that Fred Zain 

tested the money and the Habeas testimony that Sergeant Smith tested the money. Nevertheless, 

the Circuit Court's Order clearly reflects it was the falsity of the evidence which led to the ruling 

of a new trial, not who tested it. 

Finally, the Circuit Court never definitively stated the presence of third party DNA on the 

money was exculpatory, although it easily could have. The Petitioner's real argument is against 

subsequent testing with DNA because, as Petitioner states, it would open the door for new trials. 

Petitioner's argument fails to contemplate the West Virginia Legislature has set forth, in W.Va. 
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Code §15-2B-I et seq., an entire statutory scheme to allow individuals like Respondent to show 

Circuit Court's that DNA contradicts the results ofprior forensic testing. This argument also goes 

against the testimony of Sergeant Smith who agreed that because DNA testing provides much 

more discriminating information, it tends to exonerate people. (ld. at 90). 

III. 	 THE CIRCUIT COURT'S NEWLY DISCOVERED EVIDENCE FINDING 
WAS ACCURATE IN ALL RESPECTS. 

Petitioner wrongly concludes the Circuit Court failed to conduct the proper analysis of 

addressing the newly discovered evidence as required by the five (5) Frazier factors. Again, 

Petitioner's real argument challenges what the Circuit Court held, not that the Circuit Court failed 

to conduct the proper analysis. It is clear throughout the Circuit Court's Order that it walked 

through and analyzed each of the five (5) factors. For that matter, Petitioner concedes that factors 

two (2) and five (5) were met. As to the first factor, the Circuit Court made a clear finding the 

evidence was discovered after the Respondent's trial. The third factor was fully discussed by the 

Circuit Court when it stated the evidence wasn't cumulative because there was no other forensic 

evidence submitted other than the serology evidence. Finally, with regard to the fourth factor, the 

Circuit Court compared the serology testimony given at trial, and the inferences thereof, with the 

subsequent DNA evidence and outlined how Respondent's trial would have been different. 

Petitioner states the DNA results aren't newly discovered because they are old. Being old 

isn't the standard for newly discovered evidence, the five (5) Frazier factors is the legal standard 

for whether evidence is considered newly discovered. Nonetheless, Respondent takes Petitioner's 

argument as challenging the first factor stating that evidence "must appear to have been discovered 

since the trial, and from the affidavit of the new witness, what such evidence will be, or its absence 

satisfactorily explained." Again as stated above, the only requirement as to this factor is that the 

DNA evidence was not discovered at the time of trial. It is obvious the Circuit Court understood 
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that DNA evidence was not being used at the time of trial so it would have been impossible for it 

to exist. 

Finally, Petitioner continues to assert that Respondent would have been convicted even 

without the serology evidence. However, this is not and never has been the standard. The standard 

is whether the newly discovered evidence would be such that a different result would have 

occurred. The difference in these standards is that the former standard simply eliminates the false 

evidence, but the latter standard accounts for how the newly discovered evidence, in this case the 

subsequent DNA, would have affected the outcome ofthe case. The Circuit Court rightfully found 

the DNA evidence in this case would have produced a different result. The DNA evidence 

eliminates the incriminating effect of the money evidence because it shows Ms. Carter's DNA 

wasn't on the admissible money. The DNA evidence also contradicts the theory that Respondent 

was the actual murderer and establishes a third party suspect. A proposition we know is possible 

by a corroborating witness placing a white male as the last known individual in the Wendy's store 

before Ms. Carter's murder. A proposition we know is possible based on the fifty-dollar bill 

showing a third party which wasn't introduced at trial. 

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT 

Respondent agrees Rule 19 Oral Argument is necessary in this case because Petitioner is 

claiming an unsustainable exercise of discretion by the Circuit Court regarding the application of 

settled law. 

ARGUMENT 

I. RESPONDENT'S CLAIMS ARE NOT BARRED BY RES JUDICATA. 
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Petitioner's assertion Respondent's claim is barred by the doctrine ofRes Judicata is wrong 

for two reasons: 1) Zain III expressly afforded Respondent the right to bring his renewed request 

for relief by holding that "[ a] prisoner who was convicted between 1979 and 1999 and against 

whom a West Virginia State Police Crime Laboratory serologist, other than Fred Zain, offered 

evidence may bring a petition for a writ of habeas corpus based on the serology evidence despite 

the fact that the prisoner brought a prior habeas corpus challenge to the same serology evidence, 

and the challenge was finally adjudicated (Emphasis added), and 2) Petitioner waived its right to 

assert Res Judicata in this appeal as it is an affirmative defense which must be raised or waived in 

the Court below. 

a. 	 The mandate issued in Zain III expressly afforded Respondent the right to bring his 
renewed request for Habeas Corpus relief. 

Respondent's habeas claims are not barred by res judicata. This Court, in issuing the Zain 

III opinion, expressly afforded Respondent the right to re-litigate serology evidence used against 

him "despite the fact that [Respondent] brought a prior habeas corpus challenge to the same 

serology evidence, and the challenge was finally adjudicated." SyI. pt. 6, In re Renewed 

Investigation ofState Police, 219 W.Va. 408 (2006). Petitioner's resjudicata argument completely 

ignores the Zain III holding which makes Petitioner's repeated references to Respondent's prior 

habeas petitions irrelevant. In reaching its decision in Zain III, this Court clearly contemplated 

there would be prior adjudicated arguments on serology evidence, but because it was discovered 

that others within the State Police's Crime Lab may have contributed to the false reporting, the 

Court expressly waived any res judicata application to a subsequent challenge. 

Respondent does not dispute he previously challenged the serology evidence used against 

him. Admittedly, the subject of his consolidated habeas petitions (92-C-41, 92-C-2815, and 93-C

2557) focused around the serology and subsequent DNA testing of the money containing blood 

15 




evidence on it. Likewise, Respondent acknowledges the Circuit Court denied his habeas relief by 

order after an omnibus hearing. However, it is the focus of the previous Order, in two respects, 

that revives Respondent's request pursuant to Zain III. First, the Circuit Court held that Sergeant 

Ted Smith and State Trooper Brent Myers conducted the serology testing, not Fred Zaino Second, 

and perhaps as important, even though the Circuit Court found there was sufficient evidence to 

convict Respondent without Mr. Zain's testimony, it was apparent the Circuit Court failed to 

conduct the last prong of the required analysis which was to consider if Mr. Zain's testimony had 

any material effect on the jury. 

At the time of its holding, June 13, 1996, Sergeant Ted Smith's and Trooper Brent Myers' 

work had yet to be discredited. Therefore, the Circuit Court had a good faith basis for its 

determination the serology testing was accurate. I However, after the Zain III investigation it was 

apparent there was validity to the accusations against Sergeant Smith and Trooper Myers. 

Recognizing the possibility that fabricated evidence could have been used to convict prisoners 

under the guise ofSergeant Smith and Trooper Myers good reputation, as was done to Respondent, 

this Court afforded those "convicted between 1979 and 1999 and against whom a West Virginia 

State Police Crime Laboratory serologist, other than Fred Zain, offered evidence [to] bring a 

petition for a writ of habeas corpus based on the serology evidence." Syl. Pt. 6, Zain III. 

Petitioner, by way of recitation to typical habeas rules, attempts to convince this Court that 

Respondent somehow tricked the Circuit Court into forgetting application of res judicata. The 

accusation should be sanctionable considering the Circuit Court below went out of its way to 

1 In its June 13, 1996 Order, the Circuit Court recognized that Troopers Smith and Myers performed "all or virtually 
all of the serology testing" and that Fred Zain simply testified as to the results at trial. (Appendix at 166-8). Allowing 
a surrogate witness to testity as to the testing results of another violates of the Confrontation Clause as held by this 
Court in State a/West Virginia v. Frazier, 229 W.Va. 724; 735 S.E.2d 727 (2012), Melendez-Diaz v. Massachusetts, 
557 U.S. 305, (2009), and Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36 (2004). Although not generally held retroactive, it 
was nonetheless unconstitutional and highlights yet another injustice of Respondent's trial. 
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recognize that habeas petitioners typically only get one attempt at relief and then explained why 

this Respondent was entitled to relief pursuant to Zain Ill. (App. Vol. I, 436-453, Para. 

B(1)(2)(3)(4)(5)(6), D(1)(2)(3)(4)(5)(6)(7)(8)(9)(10).) In properly recognizing that Zain III 

controlled the issue, that a new hearing on the serology evidence was to be held, and that the 

serology evidence was to be reviewed with painstaking scrutiny, it can hardly be said the Circuit 

Court below was tricked by a "con-artist." Rather, the Circuit Court's order properly followed the 

scriptures of Zain 111 and properly realized any record from a prior habeas proceeding was not 

relevant. 

Petitioner's res judicata argument is contradictory on its face. On the one hand it argues 

res judicata should apply because of prior habeas petitions. On the other hand, it recognizes that 

Respondent had a right to a subsequent Zain Ill. ("In his 06-C-491 habeas petition, Respondent 

raised, for the first time, his right to a new habeas pursuant to Zain III.") (Emphasis added). (pet. 

Br. Pg. 30.) Even then, Petitioner argues that because prior Circuit Courts summarily denied his 

Zain 111 petitions (06-C-491 & 08-C-999), Respondent should have been barred from bringing the 

petition at issue. This argument fails because it is obvious the prior Circuit Court, by failing to 

provide Respondent with a full hearing, failed to comply with syllabus point 4 of Zain 1/1 

Finally, Petitioner asks this Court to ignore the record developed pursuant to the October 

30, 2015, Zain III hearing and the stipulated evidence introduced therein. Instead, the Petitioner 

would have the Court look to the records and findings of prior habeas hearings. It does so on the 

premise that it will also find there was sufficient evidence of guilt even without the tainted blood 

evidence. This argument also fails.2 Why would this Court afford Respondent, and others like him, 

2 The argument that this Court should look to other records is wrong for the reason stated above, but is also wrong 
because whether or not there was sufficient evidence to convict the Respondent without the blood evidence is not, and 
never has been, the standard in Zain cases. 
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an opportunity to re-challenge the same serology evidence at a hearing where the evidence and 

testimony is to be reviewed with painstaking scrutiny, all to then completely ignore the findings 

made as a result of that hearing and look to the past. The Circuit Court in this matter understood 

Zain III required it to made findings on the testimony and evidence before it and not look to the 

past. This Court, pursuant to its standard of review, is to pass judgment on the Circuit Court Order 

entered thereon and not some other order. 

Therefore, pursuant to Zain III, Respondent's Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus is not 

barred by the doctrine of res judicata. 

b. 	 Petitioner waived its right to claim res judicata by failing to assert it as an affirmative 
defense in its Response in Opposition to Petitioner's Petition for Writ of Habeas 
Corpus. 

Petitioner had ample opportunity to raise its res judicata defense to the Circuit Court by 

way of affirmative defense or summary judgment. It failed to do so in either respect most likely 

because Petitioner's Circuit Court counsel, the prosecuting attorney's office, recognized 

Respondent had a right to pursue relief pursuant to Zain III Nevertheless, it is the Petitioner who 

should be barred from res judicata relief. 

Respondent filed his Amended Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus pursuant, in part, to 

West Virginia Code §53-4A-l et seq. As such, the Rules Governing Post-Conviction Habeas 

Corpus Proceedings govern the procedure of the the parties. See Rule 1 of the Rules Governing 

Post-Conviction Habeas Corpus Proceedings. Pursuant to Rule 10 of the Rules Governing Post-

Conviction Habeas Corpus Proceedings, "[t]he West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure, to the 

extent they are not inconsistent with these rules, may be applied, when appropriate to petitions 

filed in West Virginia Circuit Courts under these rules." Id The application of the West Virginia 

Rules of Civil Procedure to habeas proceedings is evidenced by Rule 5 of the Rules Governing 
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Post-Conviction Habeas Corpus Proceedings regarding Answers to Habeas Petitions. ("The 

answer may be consolidated with other pleadings, such as a motion under Rule 12(b)(6) or Rule 

56 of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure.) Accordingly, and because there is nothing 

inconsistent about doing so, the Rules of Civil Procedure are applicable to both Respondent and 

Petitioner. 

According to Rule 8(c) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure, the res judicata 

defense qualifies as an affirmative defense which must be raised by way of an Answer to a 

Pleading. In this case, Petitioner's Answer to Respondent's Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus. 

Rule 8( c) states "In a pleading to a preceding pleading, a party shall set forth affirmatively ... res 

judicata ... and any other matter constituting an avoidance or affirmative defense. A simple review 

ofPetitioner's Response in Opposition to Respondent's Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus shows 

that res judicata was not raised as an affirmative defense. Likewise, Petitioner did not ever 

challenge or request summary judgment arguing res judicata applied. Therefore, this Court should 

not entertain Petitioner's argument. Especially in light of the Zain III discussion above.

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